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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL, (if known) PHYSICAL. APPEARANCE

Designed in the Romanesque style and achieving a monumental effect, 
Trinity Church has a compact and cruciform plan with all its limbs nearly... . 
equal-apse, nave, transepts, and chancel - forming the base of the tower 
obelisk. The massive square central tower, with a two-story body flanked by- 
turrets at the angles and crowned with four gables and an octagonal roof, 
rises to a height of 150 feet and is the dominant feature of the design. The 
composition as a whole is a romantic and picturesque mass studied for its 
effectiveness from all angles.

The walls of the church are of yellowish gray Milford granite laid up in 
quarry-faced random ashlar and the profuse trim is in reddish-brown Long- 
meadow brownstone. A "color church," cut-stone, in alternating patterns of 
light and dark, decorate some of the walls. The church measures 121 feet 
outside from end to end (north-south) of the transept walls and l6l feet from 
apse (east) wall to the west (front) facade. The four arms of the cruciform 
church are each about 50 feet wide inside.

The lower roofs are of plain slates, the roofs and louvre-boards of the 
tower of semi-glazed red tiles, and the crockets of red terra-cotta. A 
vestibule stretches across the west entrance front and is prolonged to a 
breadth of some 93 feet, forming the lower story of the two flanking western 
towers, which thus rise free of the west end of the nave. The present west 
porch and the top story and roof of each of the two west towers were designed 
and built in 189^-97.

Inside, the main ceilings are about 63 feet high and the flat ceiling of 
the central tower 103 feet. The tower is supported by four piers - each a 
pyramid of solid granite 35 feet square at the base, 17 feet high, and seven 
feet square at the top, set near the angles of the crossing. The crossings 
measure about 36 feet to the springing of the arches and are then connected 
by clear spans of k6 1/2 feet.

Narrow aisles, used only as passageways add 9 feet h- inches to the width 
of each side of the nave in the west arm, and its clerestory is borne by an 
arcade of two arches. Within this arcade, above tt&aisles, is a narrow 
triforium-like passageway connecting the galleries which are built across the 
ends of three of the limbs. The chancel proper is very short, but the apse 
is very large (giving the east arm. a length of 57 feet), serni-circular, and 
pierced by a range of tall round-headed windows set well up under the 
cornice.

The ceilings of the auditorium are of light furring and plaster in the 
form of a large barrel-vault of trefoil section, a butting against the great 
arches of the crossing, which are furred down to a similar shape, with 
wooden tie-beams casing iron rods carried across on a level with the cusps 
of the arches. The four great granite piers which sustain the weight of 
the tower are ..encased with furring and plastering, finished in the shape 
of grouped shafts with grouped capitals and bases. The whole apparent 
construction is thus a mask of the actual construction.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Designed by the noted architect Henry Hobson Richardson and 
constructed by Norcross Brothers in 1872-77? Trinity Church is Richardson's 
masterpiece of church architecture and the prototype of what became 
immediately known as the "Richardsonian Romanesque" architectural style. 
By i860 this great church had fully established its ^2-year old designer's 
reputation as the new leader among architects in the United States. Even 
before Trinity Church was completed other American architects were 
producing imitations, and. over the next 20 years many prominent churches in 
the United States, particularly in the Middle west, followed in some degree 
the model that Trinity Church established.

Trinity Church, - a mighty stone pile of heavy porches, arches,, and 
buttresses building up to a massive central tower, sprayed with pinnacles 
and turrets, and presenting a rich complex of ever-shifting shapes and 
unexpected sequences of pattern in color and texture - embodied a fuller 
and more mature realization of the visual and intellectual implications 
that had already been present in the earlier 19th century High Victorian 
picturesque architectural style. In designing Trinity Church Richardson 
freely rendered and personalized his impressions of such great llth Century- 
French Romanesque Churches as Saint-Gilles-du-Gard at Auvergne and Saint 
Trophirne at Aries; Trinity's great central tower was inspired by that of 
the Old Cathedral in Salamanca, Spain.

History

In December 1870 the Proprietors of Trinity Church decided to obtain 
a new location and erect a new church. On January 1, 1872, for $105,000, 
they purchased a rectangular lot located on the east side of Copley Square. 
The site was situated in Boston's Back Bay area, a newly developed 
residential area that was comprised of filled-in land. In March 1872, the 
Building Committee of the church invited six architectural firms to submit 
designs for the new Trinity Church. Its letter to the architects specified 
that the church seat 1,000 persons on the main floor and 350 in the 
galleries, and that it have a robing room and organ on either side of the 
chancel. "Also in rear of the Church a Parish Building containing a 
Lecture Room capable of seating 500 persons, a Sunday School over the 
Lecture Room, and an Infant School Room, and three or four small rooms..."
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7. Description: (1)

The Interior of the church was brightly decorated by John La Farge. The 
dominant color of the interior walls is red, the great piers a dark bronze 
rreen with gilded capitals and bases. The painting on the walls of the tower, 
above the arches, over the windows, and in the nave were done directly on the 
walls. As Richardson emphasized the tower as the dominanting architectural 
feature of the interior, so La Farge also lavished upon it a wealth of 
mintinp- and decoration, even in hidden places. The decorations of the nave 
were restored to their original brilliance in 1957. The stained glass 
windows in the apse of the Chancel (the east arm) are by Clayton and Bell of 
London. The magnificent and beautiful three-lancet window over the west 
gallery was designed and made by John La Farge. The stained glass in the 
north transept windows are by the English artists William Morris and Sir 
Edward Burne Jones.

The present ciborium and pulpit were designed by Sheply, Rutan, and 
Coolidge and were erected in 1916. The present altar and decorations in the
chancel were done by Charles D. Maginnis in 1933 and the nave and chancel 
organs date from 1963.

The parish house, with its large mullioned windows and attached cloister 
colonnade that connects it to the northeast corner of the church, is built 
of the same material as the church. In its final (187*0 form the parish 
house certainly ranks as one of Richardson's finest achievements. Viewed 
from Copley Square, the west elevation of the parish house continues the motif 
of the open facade of the church, and culminates in the rising cloistered 
stairway that leads to the chapel. The building's four dormers, with their 
round lights, echo those high in the massive church tower. The pyramidal 
massing of the parish house also reflects that of the church itself. It 
makes a third important volume in the whole: from either the southwest or 
northwest, one sees the great central tower balanced on one side by the 
western towers, and on the other by the parish house,^lower and further away. 
The interior of the parish house was rebuilt in 1959-60.

The church and parish house are both in excellent condition. Trinity 
Church is an active church and the building is also open to visitors.
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8. Significance (l)

Each architect was to furnish by May 1, l8?2 a ground plan, three elevations, 
longitudinal and cross sections, and a prespective drawing, as well as "an 
approximate estimate including foundation not to exceed $200,000 dollars." 
Each architect was to receive $300 for his designs.

On June 1, 1872, the Committee awarded the commission to Henry Hobson 
Richardson, a 3^-year old architect from New York City. Richardson came to 
Boston and urged the Committee to acquire an available triangle of land that 
adjoined the church property to the north. On June 14, the Committee purchased 
this triangle for $74,000 and the new addition almost doubled the original 
building site in size. Richardson completely reworked his prize-winning 
drawings and early in April, 1373? presented his matured, plans, now based on 
the larger lot, to the Committee. The great 50-foot tower used in both plans, 
however, aroused the concern of engineers employed by the Committee, and the 
architect received instructions to reduce the weight of the tower so that the 
feature could be safely erected on filled-in land. Richardson spent the spring 
of 1373 in making adjustments to his plans, reducing the original weight of the 
tower from 18,601,401 pounds to 14,24^,359 pounds, and its height by about one- 
third, only to have the third set rejected on June 29.

A new committee now took up the problem ana the architect's fourth set of 
plans was accepted. Bids were opened on September 9> 1373 and James Anson 
Norcross and Orlando Whitney Norcross, Builders, of Worcester, Massachusetts, 
were low bidders with a figure of $355,000. As this amount far exceeded what 
the committee had in mind, Richardson made a fifth revision in his plans and 
the Norcross Brothers then reduced their bid to $290,000. A contract for this 
amount was signed with the builders on October 10, 1873 and called for the 
completion of the Parish house by November, 1874 and the church by September 1, 
1876. Richardson received a grand total of $7,218.90, including expenses, for 
his work on the Trinity Church plans. There were to be no further payments to 
the architect, though the project continued to occupy a great deal of his 
time for the next three years.

During the spring and summer of 1873 some 4500 wooden piles were sunk in 
the filled-in land, at a cost of $65,000, to support the weight of the church 
and Parish House.

On April 5? 1374 Norcross Brothers accepted the architect's final drawings 
and set to work. At this point, however, the committee, acting on the 
recommendations of its new consulting engineer, intervened and directed. 
Richardson to completely redesign the central tower to further lighten its 
weight and thereby eliminate all questions regarding its safety.
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8. Significance (2)

The architect spent the spring and summer of 137^ completely reworking 
the plan. The tall octagonal tower which had been retained from the
beginning was abandoned. In its place he evolved the existing tower, 
inspired by the tower of the Old Cathedral at Salamanca, Spain. Eichardson 
selected this church from photographs of a number of Spanish churches that 
were sent to him at this time by John La Farge. Work on the parish house 
began on March 26, 187^- and the structure was completed by November 29 of that 
year. Progress was also made on the foundations of the church during the 
summer of

The sixth and final set of drawings for the church were completed in 
March, 1875. A new contract for the church was signed with Norcross Brothers 
on April 1, 1875? giving them an additional $11,500 and the completion date 
was changed from September 1, 1876 to December 1, 1876. Work on the church 
in 1875 began on March 26, the cornerstone was laid on May 20, and by July 26, 
the arches and vault were completed. The following season, work commenced on April 
13 5 with the putting on of masonry and plaster. The committee wished to 
leave the interior bare, but Richardson persuaded them to employ John La Farge 
to paint and decorate. La Farge f s offer to do this work for $8,000 was 
accepted on September 15, 1876 and the project was completed by January 31> 
1877. In September 1876 B. Wentworth received a $4,218 contract to construct 
the 228 low pews for the church and O.W. Penny of New York a $2,000 contract 
for the great central chandelier and the eight smaller ones. Trinity Church 
was dedicated on February 9? 1877- Cost of construction, including the piling 
and interior work, was about $1*56,000; total cost of the project, with land 
acquisition included, was about $635? 000.

The church was executed substantially as it appears in Richardson's final 
drawings of March, l875 3 except for the exterior sculpture and the two towers 
on the west (front) elevation. Exterior areas of projecting rough freestone 
that were intended to be carved into figures were left rough in 1877 and 
remain that way today; an upper story was also omitted from each of the west 
towers. The items, which would have added another estimated $UO,000 to the 
cost of construction, were eliminated for reasons of economy. Instead, the 
west towers were capped in 1877 in a manner much like that planned by 
Richardson prior to his plans of September, 1873-April, 187^. These 1877 
cappings were later removed at sometime between 1878 and 1886.

Richardson's successors., Shejpley, Rutan, and Coolidge, completed Trinity 
Church in 189^-97 • The existing porch and two towers on the west (front; 
elevation were designed by Hugh Shepley in a style that partially reflects 
Richardson's unexecuted plans, prepared in 1883-85. The towers are of the seal 
desired by Richardson, though in form busier and more archeological than he 
planned. The porch, modelled after St. Trophime's, is also close to 
Richardson's except 'that the frieze of carved figures is much heavier, and a
good deal of the original grace has been lost.
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o. Significance; (3)

Shepley's porch and towers of 189^-97, in brief, are more Romanesque, 
more cluttered, and more deliberately historical than anything Richardson had 
ever intended.
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